1965

Walker Bank and Trust Company, Administrator of the Estates of Minnetta Walker, Also Known As Nettie Walker, Deceased, and Ila Minnetta Walker, Deceased, and John A. Walker, Deceased, and R. E. Walker, Roma Walker Grock and Alta Fay Walker Lake and Austin Walker v. J. B. Walker : Brief of Plaintiffs-Appellants

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a civil action by which plaintiffs-appellants originally sought to have a constructive trust in their favor imposed upon certain parcels of real property,

record title to which was in defendant-respondent. The real property constitutes the bulk of the estate of John A. Walker, Deceased, and the parties are his heirs, or their personal representatives.

The complaint alleged defendant acted on behalf of plaintiffs, or their predecessors in interest, in recovering title to the real property after it had been taken by creditors through mortgage foreclosures or execution sales (R. 1, para. 6 and 12). By his answer, defendant denied any trusteeship or any beneficial interest in plaintiffs or any of them (R. 9-10).

Thereafter, a written agreement between the parties (Exh. P-7) was located supporting plaintiff's contentions. By the time of pre-trial, defendant had admitted the genuineness of this 1922 agreement (R. 76-78), which provided that he should have only a lien in the property and that his lien should be limited to the amount he personally paid in satisfying certain previous liens against the property, plus interest.

Trial proceeded on the theory that defendant held title only to secure his lien and subject to an obligation to convey the property to his co-heirs when the amount of his lien had been paid to him. The purpose of the trial was to determine the amount of defendant's lien and to enforce his obligation to make appropriate conveyance upon the satisfaction of the lien (R. 107; 113).

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The trial court determined the amount of defendant-respondent's lien to be \$21,757.36, of which \$5,614.00 is

principal and \$16,143.36 is interest. It ruled that plaintiffs would have 30 days after demand by defendant to pay this amount, and if the payment were not made within that period, defendant would be released from any obligation to convey plaintiff's property interest to them (R. 83).

In making this determination, the trial court acknowledged that some or all of the \$5,614.00 was actually paid by a partnership of which defendant was at most an equal partner with plaintiff R. E. Walker (R. 419; R. 371). The court nevertheless gave defendant full credit for all payments made by the partnership and held defendant was entitled to interest at 8% per annum from the time those payments were made.

The court failed to make any finding as to the extent to which payments made by the partnership (and for which defendant was given full credit) were made to satisfy obligations which the partnership had to the Estate of John A. Walker, Deceased, although it was the contention of plaintiffs that the partnership had used at least \$1,250.00 of the \$5,614.00, and therefore, by paying \$1,250.00 of the total was only fulfilling its obligation to repay.

The court further held that, upon defendant's purchase, in June of 1959, of plaintiff R. E. Walker's stock in a corporation which had acquired some of the assets of the partnership, defendant acquired any right R. E. Walker might have had to be reimbursed for payments made by the partnership in the acquisition of the property involved in this case.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs-appellants seek to have the cause remanded with instructions to the trial court that it determine the amount of respondent's lien by the following adjustments to its decree:

(a) Deduct \$1,250.00 from the \$5,614.00 principal amount in the decree. This is one-fourth of the \$5,002.50 paid by the partnership to persons named Dayton on a mortgage obligation, and represents \$1,000.00 borrowed by the partnership for its business purposes on June 4, 1918. The partners used the estate property as security for the loan, giving a mortgage on it (Exh. P-28; Entry 28 of Exh. D-30). One-fourth of the money borrowed on the Dayton note and mortgage had been used to pay off this \$1,000.00 indebtedness. (R-228)

(b) Deduct from the balance 58.318 per cent of whatever amount was actually paid by the partnership (as opposed to defendant personally) in satisfying the liens to which the 1922 contract relates. The 58.318% represents the interest of R. E. Walker in the partnership capital as of the time the partnership discontinued its active business operations, and making this deduction would give defendant reimbursement for his share of the partnership's payments.

(d) Deduct \$250.00 from the remaining principal amount by reason of a payment received by respondent in 1942 for a right of way over the subject property granted to West Side Water System (Entry 106, Exh. D-30), and adjust the interest computation for this 1942 receipt by defendant.

(c) Recompute the interest payment on the principal sum arrived at by the foregoing adjustments.

In the alternative, appellants seek to have this Court modify the Decree relative to the amount due respondent on his lien to a total of \$6,436.31, consisting of principal in the amount of \$1,394.67 and interest in the amount of \$5,041.64. These amounts are arrived at as follows:

Principal Amount of Respondent's	
per Decree	\$5,614.00
Less: Partnership obligation	
satisfied with proceeds from	
Dayton note and mortgage	<u>(\$1,250.00)</u>
Balance	\$4,364.00
Less: R. E. Walker's Share of	
partnership capital per partner-	
shi pbooks, not recoverable by	
respondent (58.318% of	
\$4,364.00)	<u>(\$2,545.00)</u>
Balance	\$1,819.00
Less: Amount received by	
Respondent for right of way	<u>(\$ 250.00)</u>
Balance	\$1,569.00
Plus: Interest as follows:	
8% of \$1,819.00 for 20 years	
(1922-42)	\$2,910.40
8% of \$1,569.00 for 22 years	
(1942-64)	<u>2,761.44</u>
Total Interest	<u>\$5,671.84</u>
Total Amount of respondent's	
expenditures and interest	\$7,240.84
Eight-Ninths of Above	
figure = \$6,436.31.	

from 1919 until 1924 when he got married. He was running the teams and working on the farm. J. B. Walker had several jobs until 1920 when he devoted his full effort to the hauling business (R. 387; R. 218). The nature of the entity which operated the hauling business was not expressed in any formal instrument, but the business was known as the J. B. and R. E. Walker Trucking Company (R. 362), and was represented to be a partnership of J. B. Walker and R. E. Walker (R. 222-223; R. 383).

In 1917, the business obtained a truck, and Minetta Walker mortgaged a portion of the family property to obtain loans for this purpose (Exh. P-29, R. 220). Thereafter, another truck was acquired, and J. B. and R. E. Walker mortgaged their interest in the estate property to obtain the down payment for this truck in the amount of \$1,000.00. (Exh. P-28; R. 221; R. 183; R. 378). The latter mortgage was placed on the property in June of 1918 (Exh. P-28).

On July 12, 1920, a mortgage covering the orange property was given to secure a \$4,000.00 loan made by all of the heirs of John A. Walker. (Entry 39 of Exh. D-30). Of the \$4,000.00 obtained, \$1,000.00 was used to discharge the mortgage of J. B. and R. E. Walker which had been placed on the property to get the second truck. (R. 228; R. 183; Marginal Release, Exh. P-28). This mortgage of July 12, 1920, will be referred to as the Dayton mortgage in this brief. Having used \$1,000.00 of the \$4,000.00 received on the Dayton note and mortgage to discharge their debt for the truck, J. B. and R. E. Walker's truck-

ing partnership had a clear duty to pay off at least one-fourth of the Dayton mortgage debt.

The Dayton mortgage was not paid and a judgment was entered in January of 1922. The property was sold at a sheriff's sale on February 10, 1922 to Mr. Dayton (Entry 96 of Exh. D-30).

In September of 1919 and April of 1922, two judgments were rendered against the Union Co-operative Mercantile Company (the store was operated by the family in this name) in favor of the Utah Association of Credit Men, and the green parcels of land were subsequently sold on a sheriff's sale for \$250.00 and \$25.00 respectively (Entries 53 and 56 of Exh. D-30).

In this setting, the family entered into the agreements which are dated October 9, 1922 (Exh. P-5, P-7). One of these is between members of the family and the Daytons which is a contract for the purchase by the family of the orange tract of land from the Daytons, directing that a deed running to respondent be delivered upon final payment of a purchase price of \$5,002.50. The other contract is between the members of the family themselves which provides that respondent will make a diligent effort, although he is in no sense obligated, to pay the Dayton mortgage, expenses of administration of his father's estate and expenses in pursuing a condemnation case which was then pending. The contract also provided that respondent would have a lien against the property for all "payments made by second party [respondent] pursuant to the terms of this agreement."

Although there is some question about when the signatures of the parties were affixed and by whom, the adult members of the family entered into the contract.

Without question, the Dayton obligation was satisfied. Further, the Union properties were assigned to respondent by sheriff's deeds. There is also no question about the source of these payments. Essentially all of the moneys paid for these properties came from the trucking business. (R. 228-229; R. 362). The books of account of the J. B. and R. E. trucking company partnership show the properties as partnership assets. (Exh. D-26; Exh. P-27; Exh. P-32; R. 235)

When partnership funds were expended for the purpose for which respondent seeks to establish a lien in the amount of the entire expenditure, the expenditures were set up on the books as partnership real estate and were not charged to respondent's capital account. (R. 272-273).

All of the family continued to live in the family home until 1920, when Fay Walker left. In 1924 R. E. Walker was married and moved out of the home. (R. 309; R.211) J. B. Walker and his family lived in the home with his mother and the younger children until 1931. (R. 211)

In July of 1933, a corporation, J. B. and R. E. Walker, Inc. was formed. Five Thousand shares of \$1.00 par were issued, mainly to J. B. and R. E. Walker. According to the Articles of Incorporation, the corporation received, as consideration for the shares so issued, exactly this:

“The good will and business created by the co-partnership of J. B. and R. E. Walker.” (Exh. D-25)

At the corporation's inception, there were no ledger accounts established, and the only book ever maintained was a cash book, which did not show the assets and liabilities of the business. (R. 267-268).

The only indicia of ownership of partnership assets which were transferred to the corporation were the certificates of title to the trucks as they were registered for license plates. (R. 195; R. 259). The stocks and securities of the partnership were not transferred to the corporation (R. 194; R. 404-405) No conveyance of the John A. Walker Estate property was ever made to the corporation by any instrument, recorded or otherwise.

As of December 31, 1932, the last time that partnership entries were made, the capital account of J. B. Walker amounted to \$29,143.30 and that of R. E. Walker was \$40,775.01 (R. 272). Of the total capital in the partnership, R. E. Walker had 58.318 per cent, and J. B. Walker had 41.682 per cent. The corporation stock was issued equally to J. B. and R. E. Walker (Exh. D-25).

Mr. Cope, a certified public accountant, testified that he had examined the books of the partnership and records of the corporation over an extended period between March 1958 and September 1958, and that he had attempted to reconcile the ending of the partnership with the beginning of the corporation. He found that the two could not be reconciled (R. 277).

In 1959, J. B. and R. E. Walker were involved in a law suit with one another as a result of which respondent bought all of R. E. Walker's stock in the J. B. and R. E. Walker, Inc. The purchase was made pursuant to a written agreement between them (Exh. P-31). The agreement (1) recognized that there was still a partnership having assets subject to conveyance, and (2) provided specifically that respondent was not getting any rights in the property of the John A. Walker Estate. The settlement was worked out carefully between the parties and their counsel and, with most particular language, reserved R. E. Walker's rights in the estate property from the assignment.

Disregarding the clear intent of the parties expressed in the agreement, the trial court ruled that by this agreement respondent bought out R. E. Walker's interest in the partnership without any reservations. Since the partnership had made the payments for the acquisition of the orange property from the Daytons and the green property from the Utah Association of Credit Men, the court concluded that the assignment in the 1959 agreement gave respondent the right to reimbursement, under the 1922 agreement, for all moneys paid by the partnership. The trial court refused to permit counsel to examine respondent regarding which payments were made by him and which were made by the partnership (R. 371). The court ignored the extensive provisions of the 1959 agreement expressly reserving from the assignment the rights to reimbursement for moneys paid on behalf of the John A. Walker Estate.

Following the trial court's ruling on the effect of the settlement agreement, plaintiffs asked leave to amend the complaint to assert a bar of the statute of limitations against respondent's lien including any moneys paid by the partnership, the corporation, or R. E. Walker (R. 385).

The partnership books of account clearly show the properties acquired by payments made to the Daytons (which amounted to \$5,002.50 of the \$5,614.00 in the decree) were picked up and carried as a partnership asset. Similarly, the \$426.40 awarded in the decree for the two Union lots (green property) resulted in an acquisition shown as an asset of the partnership. (Exh. D-26; R. 235).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SET-OFF AGAINST AMOUNTS PAID BY THE PARTNERSHIP AT LEAST \$1,250.00 WHICH THE PARTNERSHIP HAD THE PRIMARY DUTY TO PAY.

The Dayton mortgage represented security for a \$4,000.00 loan made upon the note of all the heirs of John A. Walker, Deceased. There is no conflict in the evidence that, when the money was obtained in 1920, \$1,000.00 (one-fourth of the \$4,000.00) was required to discharge a previous mortgage placed on the property by respondent and appellant R. E. Walker (Entry 39 of Exh. D-30; Exh. P-28; R. 183; R. 228).

Similarly, there is no conflict in the evidence that the mortgage placed on the estate property by respondent

ent and R. E. Walker in June of 1918 was to obtain \$1,000.00 for a truck used in the partnership business (R. 221; R. 183).

It would therefore appear clear that, at the moment the Dayton mortgage was placed upon the property, the heirs of John A. Walker would have a claim against the partnership and J. B. and R. E. Walker for the \$1,000.00 debt which had been paid off.

Following the Dayton foreclosure, the reacquisition of the property by respondent was made with partnership funds. (See stipulation of counsel at page 371 of the Record; Exh. D-26; R. 235)

The trial court plainly stated its conviction that respondent should be given credit for all payments made by himself or the J. B. and R. E. Walker Trucking partnership (R. 370). Further, the court did not permit any set-off for the obligations of the partnership to the John A. Walker estate. The propriety of the trial court's ruling relative to giving respondent credit for all payments made by the partnership will be argued in another point. At this point the merits of the set-off will be discussed.

The 1922 agreement among the members of the Walker family (Exhibit P-7) constitutes a memorandum of the understanding between respondent on the one hand and his mother and siblings (some of whom were still minors) on the other. It obligates respondent to do nothing except use his best efforts to clear up the Day-

ton mortgage matter and other specified expenses. It is a personal agreement with respondent providing for his reimbursement with interest of money which he pays out of his own pocket. It gives him a lien against the property for sums which he pays. It says nothing about the establishment of a lien in the event the partnership or anyone else makes any of the payments.

Appellants will concede the equity of giving respondent credit for payments made by the partnership to the extent of respondent's interest in the partnership even though such payments were not technically made by him within the purview of the 1922 agreement. However, this credit should be given only after the total payments made by the partnership have been reduced by the amount which the partnership owed to the estate.

The evidence clearly establishes that, by 1918, the trucking business was operated as a partnership between respondent and R. E. Walker. In March of that year, they represented themselves to be a partnership in a proceeding before the Industrial Commission (R-222, 223; R. 383). In June of 1918, they jointly executed a mortgage of their interest in the John A. Walker Estate above referred to so they could acquire a truck (Exh. P-28).

It appears from the record that the partnership owed the John A. Walker Estate and the family a great deal more than the duty to pay back money borrowed for use in the business. The partnership initially used the farm animals and farm equipment for hauling; it used the estate land as security in borrowing money for

trucks, and it used the land as its base of operations, feeding and sheltering its teamsters. The partners themselves owed a great deal to the family, which had put them through college despite serious financial hardships, and was providing them with their own residences. The store had also served the partnership by providing supplies and gasoline. (R-216, 214, 220, 221, 226, 227)

The value of these goods and services cannot now be established, and the trial court saw no legal duty of the partnership to pay for them. However, as to the \$1,000.00 of the Dayton mortgage money which was used to discharge the partnership's debt, both the amount and the direct benefit are clearly established from the evidence. The 1922 contract cannot logically or even rationally be construed to mean that respondent should have a lien against the estate property if the partnership repaid the \$1,000.00 of the Dayton mortgage money which was used to satisfy its own previous note and mortgage.

The ruling of the trial court goes even one step further. It provides that respondent is entitled to have the heirs of John A. Walker not only reimburse him for the money paid by the partnership to discharge its own obligation, but also pay him 3.36 times the amount of this payment in interest.

It should be noted that the decree gives respondent credit for \$5,002.50, being the principal amount the partnership paid the Daytons. Since one-fourth of the Dayton mortgage money went to the benefit of the partnership, the off-set should be one-fourth of the \$5,002.50

credit given respondent by the trial court's decree, or \$1,250.00.

We submit that the trial court erred in not allowing a set-off of \$1,250.00 against the \$5,614.00 principal amount determined to be due respondent.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT RESPONDENT HAD ACQUIRED ALL OF THE PARTNERSHIP'S RIGHTS IN THE PROPERTIES OF THE JOHN A. WALKER ESTATE.

The evidence offered in the trial of this case is uncontroverted that all monies paid for the re-acquisition of the properties covered by the Dayton mortgage and those included in the Utah Association of Credit Men execution sale were from the Walker Trucking Company co-partnership, in which respondent and appellant R. E. Walker were partners. (R. 257; R. 235; Stipulation of counsel R. 371, Exh. D-26 at page 21.)

The trial court repeatedly expressed its conviction that respondent had finally bought out R. E. Walker in the partnership which paid the \$5,614.00 here in issue, and had therefore acquired any right his partner had to be reimbursed for partnership funds expended for the John A. Walker Estate. At page 370 of the record, the court said:

“I am going to hold that any money that's been paid by the partnership or the corporation or J. B. Walker he is entitled to get eight-ninths of it back.”

Again, at page 412 of the record, the court said:

“He may have paid for it by partnership funds, but he has bought his partner out.”

Also at page 366-7 of the record, we find:

“MR. CUTHBERT: The only reason for presenting Mr. Cope’s evidence was in rebuttal of Mr. Walker’s statement that he had charged all the items to draws that had been paid by the partnership.

“THE COURT: This is what I understand, and I did not think that made any difference because he’s bought R. E. Walker out, and he’s paid all that’s been paid on this.”

The evidence in this case will not sustain a finding that respondent ever acquired the rights of his partner, Appellant R. E. Walker, to be reimbursed for amounts expended by the partnership for the estate nor that the property interests of the partnership in the John A. Walker Estate properties were ever transferred to J. B. and R. E. Walker Incorporated.

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