1965

Walker Bank and Trust Company, Administrator of the Estates of Minnetta Walker, Also Known As Nettie Walker, Deceased, and Ila Minnetta Walker, Deceased, and John A. Walker, Deceased, and R. E. Walker, Roma Walker Grock and Alta Fay Walker Lake and Austin Walker v. J. B. Walker : Brief of Defendant-Respondent

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

Regardless of the conflict in evidence as to when the partnership had its inception, there is no doubt at all as to the relationship of R. E. Walker to this transaction. He is one of the *parties of the first part* in Ex. 7, who acquires the right to buy in, if, as and when "J. B." is successful in his efforts to raise the money and repurchase the lost property. That is the relationship, and the

only relationship, to this property that R. E. Walker retained for himself in his settlement with J. B. in June, 1959. He did not sign with "J. B." as a raiser of funds in 1922, nor does he in 1959 reserve or retain any interest in any funds to be reimbursed to "J. B." The only reservation in 1959 is the right to assert his interest in the property of the John Alvin Walker estate. This is exactly what he is asserting in the Complaint, along with the other heirs, as a beneficiary of an alleged trust; and that is exactly what the Trial Court gave him and what he will get if he puts up his share of the money.

The partnership has been out of existence for thirty years.

Prior to incorporation, regardless of the source of funds for meeting payments to Dayton, and regardless of the issue as to whether, in periodic accounts between the partners, the payments were charged to J. B., it is undisputed in the evidence that the property, after acquisition of Tract "A" from Dayton and of Tract "B" from the Association of Credit Men, was carried on the partnership books as an asset (R. 282). That would be true whether it was owned personally or jointly as a partnership assets. All personally owned assets are liable for partnership liabilities. The tax returns, however, as before stated, carried the notation that the property belonged to "J. B." but was loaned to the partnership.

At the time of incorporation, the property was listed in the balance sheet (Ex. D-24) as an asset of the partnership to be conveyed to the corporation in payment of stock.

The property was picked up by the corporation as an asset and has been carried and used as such for bonding and credit purposes from 1933 to the present time.

During that period from 1933 to 1959 (26 years) R. E. Walker was Secretary and Treasurer of the corporation. He cannot now claim ignorance of such facts. When he parted from "J. B." in 1959 he hired a C.P.A. to make an examination of the corporate books and Mr. Cope produced the document which he used (Ex. P-34) which shows on its face an entry for machinery, equipment, and real property, which included this property, on the schedule attached. When he sold his stock he sold any interest which he ever had as a partner or as a stockholder.

The Trial Court correctly found his issue against plaintiffs. The evidence was overwhelmingly against R. E. on this point.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE COMPUTATION OF INTEREST COMMENCED WITH 1922.

This point deserves little or no attention. It is such an obvious attempt to play on words that it should be disregarded without comment.

As we read it, it is that J. B. is to be reimbursed *only for what he personally pays out*; and that if he had the partnership make the payments on his behalf and then

charge it to his account in periodic settlements, or if he had the partnership and the corporation pay it and carry it for him, with him ultimately acquiring the entire beneficial interest through stock ownership, that some way, somehow this method of handling it acted as a release for the benefit of plaintiffs from the obligation to pay interest if they wanted to exercise their right to acquire.

Plaintiffs cite no law to such effect because there is none. Excepting R. E., who sold his interest in the partnership for stock and then sold his stock to J. B. for cash, none of the plaintiffs ever at any time had any interest in either of those entities. Their rights and their obligations are contractual as set forth in Ex. 7, and no play on words can be used in a Court of Equity to operate to release them from the proper payment of principal and interest on all amounts paid to acquire the property, regardless of the source of funds from which J. B. obtained them, and notwithstanding any internal accountings used by the bookkeepers for the partnership and the corporation in adjusting equities between the partners or the two principal stockholders.

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE MOTION OF APPELLANTS TO CONVERT THE CASE INTO A MORTGAGE FORECLOSURE ACTION AFTER IT HAD BEEN INITIATED AND TRIED BY PLAINTIFFS AS AN ACTION IN EQUITY TO IMPRESS THE LEGAL TITLE WITH A TRUST IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFFS.

Plaintiffs' Complaint clearly alleges legal title in defendant; that he acquired such title as an agent acting for and on behalf of Minnetta Walker and the heirs (R. 2-3); that he is holding the title in trust for all of the heirs. Upon that theory the case was defined in the pre-trial order (R. 61), and upon that theory the case was tried. After the Trial Court had announced its decision and had directed the preparation of Findings, Conclusions and Decree in accordance with its decision, then for the first time plaintiffs sought to have the Trial Court change the nature of plaintiffs' claimed relationship with defendant to that of mortgagor and mortgagee from the fiduciary relationship of agency. This the Trial Court properly refused to permit them to do.

Exhibit 7 speaks for itself. A reading of it shows it to be an authorization to purchase the tracts, with a right of the heirs to buy in upon payment of eight-ninths (8/9) of the purchase price, together with interest and all necessary costs incurred by defendant. One thing is certain, in view of the history of the family, as set forth in the Statement of Facts, they did not intend by that document to produce another debtor and creditor relationship with more foreclosure sales, at least not in the immediate future. These two pieces of property had just gone through two judicial sales with no buyers.

There were two possible views that might be taken by the Court as to the remedy accruing to plaintiffs out of the relationship established by Exhibit 7: (a) Trusteeship arising out of agency; or (b) an option by the heirs

to acquire their proportionate share of the title at some time in the future after demand. The fact that no one knew of the existence of Exhibit 7, or, if they ever knew of its existence, had forgotten it during the lapse of forty-two years, and the further fact that Alma Smith had advised defendant that the document had never been signed by plaintiffs, actuated the conduct of the parties in their dealings with each other during that long period of time. One thing, however, was never changed: the primary objective of defendant was to provide a home for his mother and her family and this was accomplished by defendant. For forty-two years the family has lived in the home rent free, without even so much as payment of taxes, and the Court will note that in his claims for credit defendant has asked no accounting for rentals for occupancy, by the other members of the family, since he left the parental home in 1931.

After the discovery of Exhibit 7, plaintiffs still elected to claim and assert that the document created the relationship of trustee and *cestui que* trust, arising out of agency, and the Trial Court at the very inception of the trial accepted that theory and all evidence produced at the trial was directed to other issues relating to results of that relationship.

In their belated effort to change the case from one of equity to a statutory action in foreclosure, plaintiffs had apparently entirely forgotten some of the maxims of equity which are a necessary part of any proceeding to have a deed declared to be a mortgage; and also com-

pletely overlooked that there is a vast difference between the relationship of a trustee to the *cestui que* trust and that of a mortgagor to a mortgagee.

One of the first things we learn in law school is that trusts have to do with equity, and he who comes into equity seeking its aid must offer to do equity. A deed valid on its face is only changed in effect to a mortgage by a proceeding in equity, and one of the most important things you have to do in seeking the aid of equity is to offer to do equity; also, you must act promptly and you must be sure you are not barred by having slept too long on your rights.

In this connection appellants completely misunderstand the legal points involved in Point IV of their own brief. They assume that by some sort of legerdemain the relationship between appellants and respondent is that of mortgagor and mortgagee. They further assume that respondent has only a lien on the disputed lands, and then based upon that faulty assumption, argue that the only procedure available to respondent is to foreclose this imaginary mortgage. It is true that Exhibit 7 says that defendant is to have a lien for his advancements, but that does not necessarily say that the relationship of defendant to plaintiffs is changed from that of trustee to that of mortgagee. Every agent who advances funds for his principal has a lien on the property of the principal in his possession for repayment of the funds advanced, but is an equitable lien arising out of his fiduciary relationship and his right is to retain the property until the

principal reimburses him or until the principal loses his right through laches or some other method instituted by the agent himself. This is recognized basic law. See Restatement of the Law under "Agency," Sec. 14-B, and Sec. 464. It is also announced in 2 Am. Jur. 244, Sec. 313 under "Agency." Agency is a fiduciary relationship, and is one of the confidential relationships protected by the maxims of equity. The mortgagor and mortgagee relationship is not fiduciary and operates only under the statutes and the common law.

In 1922 all of the parties to this action were strangers to the title. The tracts were then vested in third parties. Plaintiffs could not grant unto respondent a lien upon lands which they did not own, nor was respondent under any legal obligation to undertake to pay off the old family debts nor to repurchase the property. He could have purchased the property from Dayton and the Association of Credit Men without any authorization from plaintiffs. He did not absolutely undertake to do anything. He was merely authorized to do so, if such he desired to do. Appellants could not grant and did not grant a lien to respondent beyond that which the law of agency already gave him. Exhibit 7 authorizes defendant, so far as plaintiffs are concerned, to acquire title from the strangers who then owned it. The first time plaintiffs acquired a right to anything was after defendant had taken title. The Trial Court has held that in so doing he acquired the title in trust and that if, as and when plaintiffs tender a full reimbursement to defendant for the amount expended, with interest, they will

be entitled to eight-ninths (8/9) of the legal title. They will then become joint owners with defendant, which is the relationship intended to be established by Ex. 7.

Respondent has never had any need to institute a foreclosure action. He is already the record owner of the unencumbered legal title which he has held since 1922, subject only to the right of plaintiffs to buy in if they desire to do so. The next move is up to appellants. Absent such a move on their part within the time limited by laches, defendant remains the owner of the title. Plaintiffs can only come into a Court of Equity after an offer to do equity and they can expect equitable relief only upon that basis.

In the case of *Bybee v. Stuart*, (112 Ut. 462, 189 P. 2nd 118) cited by appellants, it will be noted that in that case plaintiffs tendered to defendant the full amount owed to defendant and then demanded a deed, and upon appeal this Court stated that plaintiffs were entitled to recover because the transaction was in the nature of an equitable mortgage and they were entitled to be regarded as legal owners because they were willing to pay the debt. That is exactly what the Trial Court has held in this case, and it did so upon the basis of the claim of plaintiffs that a trust had resulted from the fiduciary relationship of agency created by Exhibit 7. The difference is, of course, that in this case plaintiffs do not want to do any paying before obtaining their interest in the land.

The following authorities sustain the action of the Trial Court in its determination of this question:

Colahan v. Smyth (Ore.) 81 Pac. 2d 112

Herrmann v. Churchill (Ore.) 385 P. 2d 190

36 Am. Jur. 790, Sec. 196 under Mortgages

33 Am. Jur. 441, Sec. 45 under Liens

If the Court had changed the case into a mortgage foreclosure, plaintiffs would have had the difficulty of overcoming the seven-year Statute of Limitations contained in Sec. 78-12-16, U.C.A. This would have been more devastating even than the doctrine of laches which is elsewhere presented, and they would not then have had the right to offer to do equity which the Trial Court gave them in this case. They could not have then avoided the full force of that Statute of Limitations by showing that they were holding the property under adverse possession as defined by Sec. 78-12-12, U.C.A. 1953, because they never at any time paid or offered to pay any taxes. The Trial Court went all the way in an effort to give plaintiffs the utmost in the way of rights that could possibly be established.

POINT V.

THE COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT THE
RIGHT TO REIMBURSEMENT WAS NOT
BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITA-
TIONS.

The argument of plaintiffs under this point is unique in the annals of jurisprudence. As we understand it, the crux of the argument amounts to this: the rights of plaintiffs to acquire an interest in the title under Exhibit 7 are not barred by laches or the Statute of Limitations,

but that the right of defendant to be reimbursed for his expenditures has been lost by reason of the Statute of Limitations, because, as they say, "J.B." saw fit to carry the costs with him into the partnership and thence into the corporation. That is typical of the whole attitude of plaintiffs toward this transaction.

For forty-three (43) years they have had a free ride on this matter. Since 1931 when defendant and his wife moved out of the parental home, no one has testified to a single benefit of any kind that he has had from his efforts to save the property and provide a home for his mother and her family.

On the other hand, with the exception of R. E. Walker, who moved out after his marriage in 1924, and occasional short periods of absence for some of the female plaintiffs, they and their families have lived there rent free for forty-three (43) years. The only reward that defendant has had is the privilege of getting out and raising the money to repurchase the property; and the privilege of paying or causing to be paid the taxes, insurance, water assessments and the cost of re-roofing the house and fighting the problems incident to protecting the water rights. One of the plaintiffs even refused to stipulate with the rest of the family that the \$800.00 still remaining in the hands of Alma Smith might be paid over to their mother before she died.

On this point, defendant submits that plaintiffs have certainly placed themselves beyond the pale for any considerations by a Chancellor in Equity.

CROSS - APPEAL

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE FOUND AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT PLAINTIFFS WERE GUILTY OF LACHES BY FAILING FOR FORTY YEARS TO ASSERT THEIR RIGHTS, IF ANY THEY CLAIMED.

If this Court sustains the Trial Court in its decision that the rights of plaintiffs were not lost through laches and by operation of the Statute of Limitations, such decision will probably stand as a new landmark as to the length of time that parties may, with impunity, sleep on their rights before asserting or attempting to assert them. To be exact, it is forty (40) years and seven (7) days between October 9, 1922, when Exhibit 7 was executed, and October 16, 1962, when the Complaint in this action was filed. Up to this time the longest period of record seems to be twenty (20) years, which was established in the case of *Petterson v. Ogden City*, 111 Ut. 125, 176 P. 2d 599. In that case Ogden City was excused from asserting its lien because of the fact that the statute relating to special improvements gave the City no independent right of enforcement. The clear import of the decision is that if the City had had a right of enforcement under the statute, it would have been barred by laches. There never was a time after 1922 when these plaintiffs could not have asserted their rights, if they felt they had any, by tendering their share of the money with interest and costs, and demanding eight-ninths (8/9) of the title.

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